
AGENDA

SELECT COMMITTEE - PUPIL PREMIUM

Monday, 22nd January, 2018, at 10.00 am Ask for: Gaetano Romagnuolo

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416624

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the start of the meeting in the meeting room

Membership 

Mrs L Game, Mrs C Bell, Mr A Booth, Mrs P T Cole, Mrs T Dean, MBE, Ms S Hamilton, 
Mr J P McInroy, Dr L Sullivan and Mr M Whiting

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

10.00-
10.45am

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director, CYPE, Kent County Council 
(Pages 3 - 6)
 

11.00am-
11.45am

Deborah Stanley, Headteacher, Maidstone Grammar School for 
Girls (Pages 7 - 10)
 

Appendix (Pages 11 - 30)
 

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel 
03000 416814 

Friday, 12 January 2018



This page is intentionally left blank



Pupil Premium Select Committee

Biography

Matt Dunkley

Corporate Director for Children, Young People and Education, Kent County 
Council

Matt Dunkley CBE has been Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education at Kent County Council since November 2017. Prior to that he had a 34- 
year career in services for children - including 8 years as Director of Children’s 
Services for East Sussex County Council and, more recently, 9 months as DCS 
turning around Children’s Services in Norfolk County Council.

Matt studied and worked in the USA. He also worked for 4 years for the State 
Government of Victoria, Australia.

Matt was President of the Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS) in 
2011-12, and was made a CBE for services to Children and Families in 2014.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Pupil Premium Select Committee

Hearing 9

Monday 22nd January 2018

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions.  They have been provided in 
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that 
Members may be interested to explore.  All Members are welcome to ask 
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee 
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education, Kent County Council

 Please introduce yourself and provide an outline of the roles and 
responsibilities that your post involves.

 Please discuss the refreshed Kent’s Strategy for Vulnerable Learners.

 In your view, what are the main benefits and challenges associated with 
the Pupil Premium?

 In your opinion, how effective is the adoption of free school meals (FSM) 
as a measure of disadvantage to determine eligibility to Pupil Premium 
funding? 

 To what extent has Pupil Premium funding been effective in narrowing the 
attainment gap between vulnerable pupils and their peers in Kent?

 What more can KCC do, if anything, to improve the effectiveness of the 
Pupil Premium in raising the educational attainment of vulnerable pupils 
and in narrowing the attainment gap?

 Are there any other issues, in relation to the review, that you wish to raise 
with the Committee?

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Pupil Premium Select Committee

Biography

Deborah Stanley, Headteacher, Maidstone Grammar School for Girls

Deborah Stanley is the Headteacher of Maidstone Grammar School for Girls. 
Maidstone Grammar School for Girls is a selective school of just over 1,200 
students. 

As of December 2017 the school had 75 Pupil Premium students in Years 7 to 11 
and a further 18 Bursary students in the Sixth Form. Bursary students usually come 
from students who have had, or have, Free School Meals or are Ever 6 students. In 
total, across both Pupil Premium and Bursary students, this is approximately 8% of 
the student roll. 

At most 50% of all the parents have a higher education background, with between 
70% to 80% of each cohort going onto university. An increasing number of each 
cohort are accessing apprenticeships, especially Level 4 apprenticeships. This is 
currently around 9%. 

In 2014 the school led training on Pupil Premium in Grammar Schools at the Kent 
and Medway Grammar School Association summer training conference. Data used 
in this training session was based purely on information from Kent grammar schools. 
It reflected Pupil Premium students on entry, their subject option choices and general 
progress as a group within Kent.

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Pupil Premium Select Committee

Hearing 9

Monday 22nd January 2018

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions.  They have been provided in 
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that 
Members may be interested to explore.  All Members are welcome to ask 
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee 
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

Deborah Stanley, Headteacher, Maidstone Grammar School for Girls

 Please introduce yourself and offer an outline of the roles and 
responsibilities that your post involves.

 Please provide an overview of the Pupil Premium allocation in your school. 
Is there a clear rationale for how Pupil Premium funding should be spent, 
and is this communicated to all stakeholders? 

 How do you track what Pupil Premium funding is spent on, and how do 
you monitor its impact?

 Please discuss the parental expectations on the school’s use of Pupil 
Premium funding. 

 To what extent has Pupil Premium funding been effective in narrowing the 
attainment gap between vulnerable children and their peers in the school? 
What are the key benefits and challenges associated with this funding? 

 In your view, does the relatively low number of pupils receiving Pupil 
Premium funding in your school make it more or less challenging to make 
a difference to closing the attainment gap?

 In your opinion, what other strategies and interventions – if any – can be 
implemented to maximise the impact of the Pupil Premium?

 What can KCC do, if anything, to improve the effectiveness of the Pupil 
Premium in closing the attainment gap between vulnerable children and 
their peers?

Page 9



 Are there any other issues, in relation to the review, that you wish to raise 
with the Committee?

 

Page 10



 
www.parliament.uk/commons-library | intranet.parliament.uk/commons-library | papers@parliament.uk | @commonslibrary 

 

  

 BRIEFING PAPER  

 Number 6700, 12 December 2017  

 The Pupil Premium 
By David Foster and 
Robert Long 
 

 
 

Inside: 
1. The Pupil Premium 
2. Eligibility criteria issues 
3. Reports on the Pupil Premium 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



  Number 6700, 12 December 2017 2 

 

Contents 
Summary 3 

1. The Pupil Premium 4 
1.1 Development of eligibility criteria and funding rates 5 

Increase in Pupil Premium Plus rate from 2018-19 6 
1.2 Pupil Premium funding allocations 7 
1.3 How the Premium is paid 7 

Non-mainstream settings 8 
Looked after children 8 

1.4 Accountability 9 
Schools 9 
Looked after children 10 

1.5 School Admissions and the Pupil Premium 10 

2. Eligibility criteria issues 12 
2.1 The requirement to register for free school meals 12 
2.2 Universal Credit 13 

November 2017 consultation 14 
2.3 Pupil Premium for children adopted from overseas 15 

3. Reports on the Pupil Premium 16 
3.1 NAO, Funding for disadvantaged pupils (June 2015) 16 
3.2 Public Accounts Committee, Funding for disadvantaged pupils (October 2015) 16 

Government response 17 
3.3 Education Policy Institute, Divergent Pathways (July 2016) 17 
3.4 Social Mobility Commission, State of the Nation 2016 (November 2016) 18 
3.5 Social Mobility Commission, Social Mobility Policies 1997-2017 (June 2017) 18 
3.6 Education Policy Institute, Closing the Gap (August 2017) 19 
3.7 Social Mobility Commission, State of the Nation 2017 (November 2017) 19 
3.8 Sutton Trust, Teacher Polling 2017 19 
 

 

 

Cover page image copyright: Official Opening of St Paul's Catholic School in Leicester 
by Catholic Church England. Licensed under CC BY 2.0 / image cropped 

 

Page 12

https://www.flickr.com/photos/catholicism/16468633404/in/photolist-r6h3Xf-rKGV8L-s39HAw-rKFDJu-r6u43R-rKEfYG-nsTGgs-ad7xgp-9e4gXq-9uEcAJ-qrJGXJ-eepbm-6rcN13-5i9SLE-7Dkdgq-tQX4oR-mr81Y3-4kudXv-9H4VtM-gXHe1d-6Ya6wF-otXYGN-6HPwgi-7oBZwz-8eCKgN-sry38Y-6y4D85-rUtJdM-dZgc3Q-7ZMFCk-9u1Hrn-k7hLbk-87RBa8-dtZLj9-uyCEXn-a2NMC9-5RpyJF-e7gFa-4gEeri-9F5f4s-8RCnVm-pNdKo8-e5xi47-9VpaoU-9UGjcG-5qQmNL-89TAR6-dEuSpJ-quL4iA-fYs8c
https://www.flickr.com/photos/catholicism/
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/2.0/


3 The Pupil Premium 

Summary 
Introduced in 2011 by the Coalition Government, the Pupil Premium is additional funding 
provided to publicly-funded schools in England schools with the aim of raising the 
attainment of disadvantaged children. In 2017-18, £2.4 billion of Pupil Premium funding 
was allocated in respect of around 2 million pupils, with the following pupils attracting 
funding:  

• Children registered as eligible for free school meals (FSMs) at any point since May 
2011 (referred to as Ever 6 FSM). £1,320 was allocated for each such pupil in 
reception to year 6; £935 was allocated for each such pupil in years 7 to 11.  

• £1,900 for each child looked after by a local authority, or who left the care of a 
local authority in England or Wales because of adoption, a special guardianship 
order, or a child arrangements order (sometimes referred to as Pupil Premium Plus). 

The £2.4 billion also includes a Service Premium of £300, which is paid in respect of pupils 
who have had a parent in the regular armed forces at any point since January 2012 
(referred to as Ever 6 service children), or who are in receipt of a pension under the Armed 
Forces Compensation Scheme or the War Pensions Scheme after their parent died while 
serving the armed forces.  

Local authority maintained schools are required to publish a strategy for using Pupil 
Premium funding on their websites. There is no parallel obligation on academies unless 
provided for in their funding agreement, which largely depends on when the academy 
opened. The Department for Education recommends, however, that academies should 
publish a Pupil Premium strategy regardless of whether this is required by their funding 
agreement.  

Schools are also accountable for their use of Pupil Premium funding via the performance 
tables, which report on the performance of disadvantaged pupils compared to other 
pupils, and through Ofsted inspections, which report on the attainment and progress of 
pupils who attract the Pupil Premium. 

The Spending Review and Autumn Statement 2015 committed to protect the Pupil 
Premium “at current rates” during the Spending Review Period (up to 2020). 

The Pupil Premium Grant is paid as a separate grant to the Dedicated Schools Grant (the 
main source of revenue funding for schools). As such, it is for the most part unaffected by 
the introduction of a National Funding Formula for schools. However, the National 
Funding Formula will not include a looked-after-children factor; instead, all school funding 
for looked-after and previously looked-after children will be targeted through the Pupil 
Premium Plus. As a result of the change, the Pupil Premium Plus rate will increase to 
£2,300 per eligible pupil from 2018-19. 

To be eligible for FSMs a child or their parent/carer must be in receipt of a qualifying 
benefit. Universal Credit, which is being gradually rolled out across Great Britain, replaces 
many of these benefits, and some other benefits that are not qualifying benefits for FSMs, 
with a single payment. Consequently, once roll-out is complete, the majority of the 
current criteria for determining entitlement for FSMs, and with it eligibility for the Pupil 
Premium, will no longer exist. In light of this, in November 2017 the Government 
published a consultation in which it proposed introducing a net earnings threshold for a 
household’s eligibility for FSMs from April 2018. The consultation closes in January 2018. 

 

Page 13

https://consult.education.gov.uk/healthy-pupil-unit/fsm/


  Number 6700, 12 December 2017 4 

1. The Pupil Premium 
Introduced in 2011, the Pupil Premium is funding provided to publicly 
funded schools in England to support the education of disadvantaged 
pupils. It is paid as a separate grant in addition to the Dedicated Schools 
Grant. As such, with the exception of Pupil Premium payments in 
respect of looked after and formerly looked after children (see section 
1.1 below), Pupil Premium funding is not affected by the introduction of 
the National Funding Formula for schools. 

In 2017-18, schools received funding in respect the following groups of 
pupils: 

• Disadvantaged children: for each child registered as eligible for 
free school meals (FSMs) at any point since May 2011 (referred to 
as Ever 6 FSM): 

─ £1,320 for pupils in reception to year 6; or 

─ £935 for pupils in year 7 to year 11. 

• Looked after children: £1,900 for each child looked after by a 
local authority, or who has left the care of a local authority in 
England or Wales because of adoption, a special guardianship 
order, or a child arrangements order (previously known as a 
residence order). This is sometimes referred to as “Pupil Premium 
Plus”. 

In addition, a Service Premium of £300 is paid in respect of each pupil 
who has had a parent in the regular armed forces at any point since 
January 2012 (referred to as Ever 6 service children). It is also paid for 
children in receipt of a pension under the Armed Forces Compensation 
Scheme or the War Pensions Scheme after their parent died while 
serving the armed forces.1 

Schools must use the Pupil Premium funding they receive for the benefit 
of registered pupils; they are not restricted to using it solely on pupils 
that it is paid in respect of. Further information is available in guidance 

                                                                                               
1  Education and Skills Funding Agency, Pupil premium 2017 to 2018: conditions of 

grant, 12 October 2017. 
2  Education and Skills Funding Agency, Dedicated school grant (DSG): 2017 to 2018, 

20 December 2016. 

Box 1: Early Years Pupil Premium 

The Early Years Pupil Premium, introduced in April 2015, is additional funding for 3 and 4 year olds 
who are receiving any number of hours of state-funded early education and: 

• meet the benefit-related criteria for free school meals; or 

• are currently looked after by a local authority in England or Wales; or 

• have left care in England and Wales through adoption, a special guardianship order or a child 
arrangement order. 

In 2017-18, £31 million of Early Years Pupil Premium funding was allocated to local authorities as part 
of the Early Years Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant for them to distribute to early years providers.2 
Further information is provided at Early years pupil premium: guide for local authorities. References in 
this briefing to the Pupil Premium do not include the Early Years Pupil Premium. 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018#rates-for-eligible-pupils
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018#rates-for-eligible-pupils
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/early-years-pupil-premium-guide-for-local-authorities


5 The Pupil Premium 

published by the Education and Skills Funding Agency: Pupil premium 
2017 to 2018: conditions of grant. 

1.1 Development of eligibility criteria and 
funding rates 

Following a commitment in the May 2010 Coalition Programme for 
Government to “fund a significant premium for disadvantaged pupils 
from outside the schools budget by reductions in spending elsewhere”, 
a consultation on introducing a pupil premium was published in July 
2010.3  

Among other things, the consultation sought views on whether a higher 
Pupil Premium should be paid to “under-funded” areas, or whether it 
should be paid at a flat-rate per eligible pupil. The consultation 
response, published in 
December 2010, confirmed 
that a Pupil Premium would 
be introduced for 
disadvantaged children, 
looked after children, and 
children who had parents in 
the armed forces. It also 
confirmed that the 
Premium would paid at a 
flat-rate and not varied by 
area. It added that £635 
million of Pupil Premium 
funding would be available 
in 2011-12 and this would 
be built up over time to 
£2.5 billion by 2014-15.4 

In line with the increased 
funding available, between 
its introduction and 
2014-15, the eligibility 
criteria for the Pupil 
Premium were broadened 
and the per-pupil rates 
were increased. The table 
opposite sets out the 
changes made between 
2011-12 and 2014-15. 

In 2015-16, the Pupil 
Premium funding per Ever 6 

                                                                                               
3  Cabinet Office, The Coalition: our programme for government, May 2010, p28; 

Department for Education, Consultation on school funding 2011-12 – Introducing a 
pupil premium, July 2010, p4. 

4  Department for Education, The school funding settlement for 2011-12: The pupil 
premium and Dedicated Schools Grant, 13 December 2010, p3. 

Table 1: Pupil Premium eligibility criteria and funding rates, 2011-12 to 2014-15

Pupil Premium 
group Year Eligibility criteria

Funding rate 
(per pupil)

2011-12 Currently in receipt of free school meals £430

2012-13
Extended to children in receipt of free 
schools meals at any point in the last six 
years

£600

2013-14 As in 2012-13 £900

Primary £1,300a

Secondary: £935

2011-12
Currently looked after by a local authority 
and has been for more than six months

£430

2012-13 As in 2011-12 £900

2013-14 As in 2012-13 £900

2014-15

Extended to children looked after for one 
day or more, and to children who have left 
local authority care as a result of adoption, 
a special guardianship order, or a child 
arrangements order (previously known as a 
residence order).

£1,900

2011-12
Children who have a parent in the regular 
armed forces

£200

2012-13 As in 2011-12 £250

2013-14

Extended to children otherwise ineligible in 
2013-14 who would have been eligible in 
previous years. Also extended to children in 
receipt of a pension under the Armed 
Forces Compensation Scheme and the War 
Pensions Scheme after their parent(s) died 
while serving the regular armed forces.

£300

2014-15 As in 2013-14 £300

(a) In the final allocations, each Ever 6 primary school pupil attracted an additional £23 on top of the 
planned £1,300.    

Looked after 
children

Service children

As in 2012-132014-15

Deprived children

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018#eligibility
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018#eligibility
http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/sites/default/files/resources/coalition_programme_for_government.pdf
http://www.education.gov.uk/consultations/downloadableDocs/School%20Funding%20Consultation%20Document.pdf
http://www.education.gov.uk/consultations/downloadableDocs/School%20Funding%20Consultation%20Document.pdf
http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/pdf/t/the%20school%20funding%20settlement%20for%202011%2012%20the%20pupil%20premium%20and%20dedicated%20schools%20grant.pdf
http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/pdf/t/the%20school%20funding%20settlement%20for%202011%2012%20the%20pupil%20premium%20and%20dedicated%20schools%20grant.pdf


  Number 6700, 12 December 2017 6 

primary pupil was increased to £1,320. Apart from this, no changes 
were made to the eligibility criteria or funding rates through to 2017-
18. 

The Spending Review and Autumn Statement 2015 committed to 
protect the Pupil Premium “at current rates.”5 In response to a 
parliamentary question asking whether the rates would be protected in 
cash terms or in real terms, the Minister, Robert Goodwill, stated that, 
“the Pupil Premium us currently worth £2.5 billion a year and we will 
continue to protect it to support those who need it.”6 

Increase in Pupil Premium Plus rate from 2018-19 
In the current school funding system, some schools with looked-after 
children receive additional funding through their local authority’s school 
funding formula. This is on top of funding provided through the Pupil 
Premium Plus.  

In response to its stage one consultation on the introduction of a 
national funding formula for schools, the Government confirmed that it 
intended to target support for looked-after and previously looked after 
children through the Pupil Premium Plus, rather than include a looked-
after children factor in the national funding formula.7 

In September 2017, the Government confirmed that following the 
introduction of the national funding formula in 2018-19 the amount 
spent through looked-after children factors in local authority funding 
formulas would be transferred to the Pupil Premium Plus budget,. As a 
result, the Pupil Premium Plus rate will increase from £1,900 to £2,300 
from 2018-19.8 

The Government’s original consultation on the funding formula 
explained that the rationale for this change is to ensure that currently 
looked after children and those who have left care are treated equally 
by the school funding system. It explained: 

Children’s experiences prior to entering care have a long-lasting 
effect on their educational attainment. When children leave care, 
through for example adoption, it is unlikely that their educational 
needs will change significantly simply because their care status has 
changed. Recent school performance data shows that children 
who have left care significantly underperform compared to 
children who have never been in care. We believe the funding 
system should treat both children in care and those who have left 
care equally.9 

Further information on the introduction of the national funding formula 
is available in the Library Briefing, Implementation of the national 
funding formula for schools in England. 

                                                                                               
5  HM Treasury, Spending Review and Autumn Statement, November 2015, p44 
6  PQ 532, 30 June 2017. 
7  Department for Education, Schools national funding formula: Government 

consultation response: stage 1, December 2016, p17. 
8  Department for Education, The national funding formula for schools and high needs: 

Policy document, September 2017, p9. 
9  Department for Education, Schools national funding formula: Government 

consultation – stage one, March 2016, pp39-41. Page 16

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479749/52229_Blue_Book_PU1865_Web_Accessible.pdf
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8106
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8106
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479749/52229_Blue_Book_PU1865_Web_Accessible.pdf
https://search.parliament.uk/search?q=type%3A%22Parliamentary+questions%22+ref%3A532&rows=10&view=detailed&s=date
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/577357/Schools_national_funding_formula_government_consultation_response__stage_1.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/577357/Schools_national_funding_formula_government_consultation_response__stage_1.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/648532/national_funding_formula_for_schools_and_high_needs-Policy_document.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/648532/national_funding_formula_for_schools_and_high_needs-Policy_document.pdf
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula/supporting_documents/Schools_NFF_consultation.pdf
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula/supporting_documents/Schools_NFF_consultation.pdf


7 The Pupil Premium 

1.2 Pupil Premium funding allocations 
As would be expected given the broadening of 
the eligibility criteria set out in the previous 
section, total annual funding for the Pupil 
Premium increased substantially between 
2011-12 and 2014-15, from £623 million to 
£2.41 billion. In 2017-18, £2.40 billion of 
funding was provided for the Pupil Premium, 
£2.2 billion of which (91%) was allocated in 
respect of pupils qualifying for the Premium 
due to their FSM status. £189 million (8% of 
the total) was allocated in respect of looked 
after and previously looked after children, and 
£23 million (1% of the total) was allocated in 
respect of service children. 

Unsurprisingly, the number of pupils attracting 
the Pupil Premium followed a similar trend to 
the overall level of funding between 2011-12 
and 2017-18, with an increase in pupils 
following each broadening of the eligibility 
criteria. In 2017-18, 2.07 million children were 
eligible for some form of Pupil Premium 
funding, the vast majority of which – 1.89 
million – were eligible under the deprivation criteria. 
99,000 children were eligible for the Pupil Premium Plus (for looked 
after and previously looked after children) and 75,000 attracted the 
Service Premium.  

Details of 2017-18 Pupil Premium allocations by school, school type, 
local authority area, and parliamentary constituency are available at: 
Pupil premium: allocations and conditions of grant 2017 to 2018. 

Allocations for previous years are available via the links below: 

• 2011-12 
• 2012-13 
• 2013-14 
• 2014-15 
• 2015-16 
• 2016-17 

1.3 How the Premium is paid 
How the Pupil Premium is paid depends on the type of school and the 
Pupil Premium element. In terms of Pupil Premium funding for 
disadvantaged pupils (Ever 6 FSM), post-looked after children and 
service children in mainstream schools: 

• For maintained schools, the Government pays the local authority 
the relevant funding in quarterly instalments, and they pass it 
onto their schools in respect of each eligible pupil on the January 
school census. 

Deprivation 
Service 

children
Looked after 

children

2011-12 £594 £9 £20 £623
2012-13 £1,141 £13 £26 £1,180
2013-14 £1,784 £17 £38 £1,840
2014-15 £2,230 £19 £164 £2,413
2015-16 £2,235 £21 £160 £2,416
2016-17 £2,215 £22 £175 £2,412
2017-18 £2,187 £23 £189 £2,399

Source: Department for Education, Pupil Premium allocations , various years

Deprivation
Service 

children
Looked after 

children

2011-12 1,217,560 45,070 40,560 1,303,190
2012-13 1,831,130 52,370 41,420 1,924,920
2013-14 1,917,270 57,940 42,540 2,017,750
2014-15 1,919,260 64,390 86,370 2,070,020
2015-16 1,920,357 68,896 86,154 2,075,406
2016-17 1,906,478 73,469 93,718 2,073,665
2017-18 1,892,303 75,268 99,375 2,066,946

Source: Department for Education, Pupil Premium allocations , various years

Element

Table 2: Pupil Premium allocations by element, 2011-12 to 2017-18
£ millions, cash

Total

Table 3: Number of pupils eligible for the Pupil Premium by 

Element

Total

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120109202126/http:/media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/xls/p/pupil%20premium%202011-12%20national%20local%20authority%20and%20parliamentary%20constituency%20tables.xls
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130108054659/media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/xls/p/pupil%20premium%202012-13%20national%20la%20and%20pc.xls
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-2013-to-2014-final-allocation-tables
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-2014-to-2015-final-allocations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-2015-to-2016-allocations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pupil-premium-information-for-schools-and-alternative-provision-settings#payments


  Number 6700, 12 December 2017 8 

• Academies and free schools are paid directly by the Education and 
Skills Funding Agency in quarterly instalments.10 

Non-mainstream settings 
The Education and Skills Funding Agency allocates Pupil Premium 
funding to local authorities for disadvantaged pupils (Ever 6 FSM), post-
looked after children and service children in general hospital schools and 
alternative provision (including non-maintained special schools), not 
maintained by the local authority but where the local authority pays full 
tuition fees.  

Local authorities must pass on Pupil Premium funding for pupils in non-
maintained special schools; this may be done on a termly basis.  

For other alternative provision settings, the local authority may pass on 
the funding to the provider. Alternatively, in consultation with non-
mainstream settings, it may use it to spend specifically on additional 
educational support to raise the standard of attainment for the eligible 
pupils.11 

Looked after children 
Virtual school heads are responsible for managing Pupil Premium 
funding for children currently looked after by the local authority and for 
allocating it to schools and alternative provision settings. They can pass 
on the full funding received in respect of a child to the relevant school 
or alternative provider, but are not required to do so. For example, some 
funding can be pooled to pay for activities that will benefit a group of 
or all of an authority’s looked after children.12 

The responsibilities of virtual school heads include, but are not limited 
to: 

• identifying their local authority’s look after children; 
• ensuring that the method used to allocate the money is simple so 

that children can benefit from it without delay; 
• working with schools and alternative providers to make sure that 

they spend their pupil premium funding for looked after children 
to help meet the needs identified in the children’s personal 
education plans; 

• being able to demonstrate how the pupil premium funding they 
manage is raising the achievement of looked after children; and 

• returning any un-spent or un-allocated funding to the Department 
for Education (DfE).13 

An article on the TES website from July 2016 reported that in 2014-15 
over £2.5 million of pupil premium funding for looked after children 
was not spent by local authorities and was returned to central 

                                                                                               
10  Pupil premium 2017 to 2018: conditions of grant, Education and Skills Funding 

Agency, last updated 12 October 2017. 
11  As above. 
12  Department for Education, Pupil premium: virtual school heads’ responsibilities, last 

updated 19 March 2015. 
13  As above.  

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pupil-premium-virtual-school-heads-responsibilities


9 The Pupil Premium 

government. The article noted the reasons for this given by two 
councils: 

• The DfE allocated money based on more looked after children 
than the local authority could identify as being in care. 

• Some funding was received too late in the year to spend.14 

1.4 Accountability 
Local authorities are required to certify that they have passed on the 
correct amount of Pupil Premium funding to schools or, where funding 
has been spent centrally, that it has been used in line with the 
conditions of the grant (i.e. for the benefit of looked after children’s 
educational needs).15 

Schools 
Local authority maintained schools are required to publish a strategy for 
using Pupil Premium funding on their websites. There is no parallel 
obligation on academies unless provided for in their funding agreement; 
the current model funding agreement does require academies to 
publish information about how they spend their pupil premium 
allocation and what impact it has had on educational attainment.16 The 
DfE recommends that academies should publish their Pupil Premium 
strategy regardless of whether this is required by the school’s funding 
agreement.17  

Box 2: Help for schools on how to use Pupil Premium funding effectively 

The Education Endowment Foundation has produced a teaching and learning toolkit for schools on 
how to use the Pupil Premium effectively. It has also produced an evaluation tool to help schools 
measure the impact of their approaches. Information on schools that have been recognised for their 
successful use of the Pupil Premium is provided on the Pupil Premium Awards website.18 

The DfE has published guidance on what maintained schools must 
publish online and what academies should publish. The lists are 
essentially the same for both types of school. The guidance for 
maintained schools states:  

You must publish a strategy for the school’s use of the pupil 
premium. You no longer have to publish a ‘pupil premium 
statement’. 

For the current academic year, you must include: 

• your school’s pupil premium grant allocation amount 

• a summary of the main barriers to educational achievement 
faced by eligible pupils at the school 

                                                                                               
14  Exclusive: millions in funding for pupils in care left unspent, TES, 1 July 2016. 
15  Pupil premium 2017 to 2018: conditions of grant, Education and Skills Funding 

Agency, last updated 12 October 2017. 
16  Department for Education, Mainstream academy and free school: single funding 

agreement, April 2016, para 2.17. 
17  Department for Education, What academies, free schools and colleges should 

publish online, 30 June 2016. 
18  Pupil premium: funding and accountability for schools, last updated 22 February 

2017. Page 19

http://www.pupilpremiumawards.co.uk/ppawards2017/en/page/home
https://www.tes.com/news/school-news/breaking-news/exclusive-millions-funding-pupils-care-left-unspent
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018/pupil-premium-conditions-of-grant-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/academy-and-free-school-funding-agreements-single-academy-trust
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/academy-and-free-school-funding-agreements-single-academy-trust
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/what-academies-free-schools-and-colleges-should-publish-online#pupil-premium
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/what-academies-free-schools-and-colleges-should-publish-online#pupil-premium
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pupil-premium-information-for-schools-and-alternative-provision-settings#accountability


  Number 6700, 12 December 2017 10 

• how you’ll spend the pupil premium to address those 
barriers and the reasons for that approach 

• how you’ll measure the impact of the pupil premium 

• the date of the next review of the school’s pupil premium 
strategy 

For the previous academic year, you must include: 

• how you spent the pupil premium allocation 

• the impact of the expenditure on eligible and other 
pupils.19 

Schools are also accountable for their use of the Pupil Premium via the 
performance tables, which report on the performance of disadvantaged 
pupils compared to other pupils.  

Ofsted inspections report on the attainment and progress of 
disadvantaged pupils who attract the Pupil Premium. If Ofsted identifies 
issues with a school’s provision for disadvantaged pupils it will 
recommend that it commissions a Pupil Premium review. Reviews can 
also be recommended by other bodies, including the school itself; the 
DfE; and the school’s local authority, academy trust or regional schools 
commissioner.20 DfE guidance provides more information on the process 
for Pupil Premium reviews, including the commissioning of them.21 

Looked after children 
Ofsted inspections of services for looked after children will ask for an 
annual report from the virtual school head, which should include: 

• details of how the pupil premium for looked after children has 
been managed; and 

• evidence of how pupil premium spending has supported the 
achievement of children looked after by the local authority.22 

1.5 School Admissions and the Pupil Premium 
Following a consultation, in October 2014 the Government confirmed 
that it would change the School Admissions Code to give all admission 
authorities in England the option to prioritise disadvantaged children in 
their admission arrangements.23 

The changes came into force in December 2014 with the publication of 
a revised School Admissions Code. The current Code, published in 
September 2015, includes the provisions in paragraphs 1.39A and 
139B: 

1.39A Admission authorities may give priority in their 
oversubscription criteria to children eligible for the early years 

                                                                                               
19  Department for Education, What maintained schools must publish online: pupil 

premium, last updated 1 November 2016. 
20  Department for Education, Pupil premium: funding and accountability for schools, 

last updated 22 February 2017. 
21  Pupil premium reviews, National College for Teaching and Leadership, last updated 

14 January 2015. 
22  Department for Education, Pupil premium: virtual school heads’ responsibilities, last 

updated 19 March 2015. 
23  Department for Education, Changes to the School Admissions Code: Government 

consultation response, October 2014. Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pupil-premium-reviews
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/333419/Changes_to_the_School_Admissions_Code_Consultation_Document.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/389388/School_Admissions_Code_2014_-_19_Dec.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/what-maintained-schools-must-publish-online#pupil-premium
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/what-maintained-schools-must-publish-online#pupil-premium
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pupil-premium-information-for-schools-and-alternative-provision-settings
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pupil-premium-reviews
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pupil-premium-virtual-school-heads-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/368917/Revised_Admissions_Code_consultation_government_response.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/368917/Revised_Admissions_Code_consultation_government_response.pdf


11 The Pupil Premium 

pupil premium, the pupil premium and also children eligible for 
the service premium. Admission authorities should clearly define 
in the arrangements the categories of eligible premium recipients 
to be prioritised. 

1.39B Admission authorities may give priority in their 
oversubscription criteria to children eligible for the early years 
pupil premium, the pupil premium or the service premium who: 

a) are in a nursery class which is part of the school; or 

b) attend a nursery that is established and run by the school. The 
nursery must be named in the admission arrangements and its 
selection must be transparent and made on reasonable grounds.24 

Neither of the criteria are compulsory; admissions authorities may adopt 
them if they wish.  

Unless otherwise provided for in the Code, schools are required to give 
the highest priority in their oversubscription criteria to looked after 
children and to children who left care because of adoption, a child 
arrangements order, or special guardianship order (i.e. the same 
eligibility criteria as for the Pupil Premium Plus).25 

                                                                                               
24  Department for Education, School Admissions Code, September 2015, p17. 
25  As above, para 1.7.  Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2


  Number 6700, 12 December 2017 12 

2. Eligibility criteria issues 
Issues have been raised with the eligibility criteria for attracting the Pupil 
Premium, with concerns generally centred on pupils that may not be 
attracting funding that they are potentially eligible for. This section 
provides a brief overview of these issues. 

2.1 The requirement to register for free 
school meals 

The Pupil Premium is only paid in respect of children registered to claim 
free school meals (FSM), and does not include those who are eligible 
but not registered; the term used by the DfE is “known to be eligible for 
Free School Meals”.26 In order to be registered as eligible for FSMs, the 
pupil or their parent/carer must be in receipt of a qualifying benefit and 
a request must have been made by them for FSMs. 

The DfE’s consultation on introducing a Pupil Premium stated that 
“allocating funding on the basis of FSM eligibility, as recorded on the 
pupil-level annual school census, has the very substantial benefit that it 
reflects the specific characteristics of the individual pupil. It is easily 
collected and is updated annually”.27 The consultation also noted, 
however, that the “main issues” with the FSM indicator included that it 
reflected “registered eligibility for free meals rather than actual 
eligibility”.28 

There is no ongoing annual official estimate of pupils eligible, but not 
claiming free school meals.29 In 2013, the DfE published research on 
Pupils not claiming free school meals, which updated earlier research 
published in 2012. The report estimated that nationally around 200,000 
children aged 4-15 appeared to be entitled to FSM but were not 
claiming them. This represented around 14% the total number of pupils 
though to be entitled for FSMs. The rate was highest for those at either 
end of the age range, and in less deprived areas. 

If registered, the child does not have to actually receive FSM for the 
Pupil Premium to be paid; simply being registered is sufficient. In 2012, 
the DfE issued a template letter for local authorities to send to parents 
to encourage FSM registration. The letter stated that, “if you don’t want 
your child to have the school meals they can continue as normal – as 
long as you qualify and are registered, the school still gets £600 extra 
[i.e. the Pupil Premium]”.30 

In a June 2015 report on the efficacy of the Premium (see section 5), the 
NAO raised the identification of pupils eligible for the Pupil Premium as 
an issue and stated that the introduction of Universal Infant Free School 
                                                                                               
26  Email to the Library from Department for Education official, 4 May 2012 
27  DfE Consultation on school funding 2011-12 – Introducing a Pupil Premium, p11. 
28  As above, p12, para 35 
29  PQ111683, 13 November 2017. 
30  Department for Education, Example letter to parents, webpage [taken on 4 May 

2012]  

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/183380/DFE-RR235.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupils-not-claiming-free-school-meals
http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Funding-for-disadvantaged-pupils.pdf
http://www.education.gov.uk/consultations/downloadableDocs/School%20Funding%20Consultation%20Document.pdf
http://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/commons/2017-11-06/111683
http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/doc/f/fsm%20example%20parent%20letter.doc


13 The Pupil Premium 

Meals for 5-7 year olds in September 2014 (removing the need to 
register to receive a meal) and also Universal Credit might “make it 
more difficult comprehensively and consistently to identify all 
disadvantaged pupils.”31 

In response to a parliamentary question in March 2017, the then 
Minister, Edward Timpson, set out what the Government was doing to 
help identify children eligible for the Pupil Premium: 

The pupil premium is allocated to schools for pupils who have 
claimed free school meals at any point in the past six years and 
those who are in care, or who left care through adoption or other 
routes. Those claiming free schools meals (FSM) form the majority 
and we want all parents whose children are entitled to apply for 
them. 

To support this, the Department for Education provides an 
electronic Eligibility Checking System that allows local authorities 
promptly to check data held by the Department for Work and 
Pensions, the Home Office and HMRC in order to establish FSM 
eligibility. The Department has also provided a model registration 
form and accompanying guidance that schools can use as part of 
their enrolment process. 

We want to make it as simple as possible for schools and local 
authorities to determine eligibility for FSM; the Department will 
continue to explore ways to make FSM eligibility checking as 
effective as possible.32 

The November 2017 consultation on revising the FSM eligibility criteria 
(see section 2.2 below) stated that the Government wanted “to make 
sure that as many eligible children as possible are claiming their free 
school meals.” It highlighted the model registration form provided to 
schools by the DfE and said that the Department would “continue to 
look at what the most effective schools do, and highlight and 
disseminate best practice from these schools and local authorities for 
other schools to use.”33 

2.2 Universal Credit 
To be eligible for FSMs a child or their parent/carer must be in receipt of 
a qualifying benefit. Universal Credit, which is being gradually rolled out 
across Great Britain, replaces many of these benefits, and some other 
benefits that are not qualifying benefits for FSMs, with a single 
payment. Consequently, once roll-out is complete the majority of the 
current criteria for determining entitlement for FSMs will no longer exist.  

                                                                                               
31  NAO, Funding for disadvantaged pupils, June 2015, p11 
32  PQ65118, 1 March 2017. Also see, PQ111683. 
33  Department for Education, Eligibility for free school meals and the early years pupil 

premium under Universal Credit, November 2017, pp14-5. 

Box 3: Universal Credit roll out  

Under current projections, Universal credit is expected to be fully rolled out across Great Britain by 
September 2018, with people still claiming “legacy benefits” transferred over to Universal Credit by 
March 2022. Further information is available in Library Briefing, Universal Credit roll-out: 
Autumn/Winter 2017. 

Page 23

http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Funding-for-disadvantaged-pupils.pdf
http://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/commons/2017-02-22/65118
http://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/commons/2017-11-06/111683
https://consult.education.gov.uk/healthy-pupil-unit/fsm/supporting_documents/Consultation%20%20Free%20school%20meals%20and%20EYPP%20under%20Universal%20Credit.pdf
https://consult.education.gov.uk/healthy-pupil-unit/fsm/supporting_documents/Consultation%20%20Free%20school%20meals%20and%20EYPP%20under%20Universal%20Credit.pdf
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8096
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8096


  Number 6700, 12 December 2017 14 

November 2017 consultation 
Currently, all pupils whose parents are in receipt of Universal Credit are 
entitled to FSMs. However, this is an interim arrangement and in 
November 2017 the Government published a consultation on its 
proposed approach to revising the entitlement criteria for FSMs in the 
light of the roll out of Universal Credit.34   

The consultation proposes introducing a net earnings threshold (not 
including benefits) of £7,400 per annum for a household’s eligibility for 
FSMs. The consultation suggested that a typical family earning around 
£7,400 per annum would, depending on their circumstances, have a 
total household income of between £18,000 and £24,000 once benefits 
are taken into account. It estimated that under the proposed threshold 
an extra 50,000 children would become eligible for FSMs compared to 
the current number of claimants – an increase in the FSMs cohort of 
around 5%. 

The consultation proposed that the new threshold would be introduced 
from April 2018, following which new FSM claimants earning above the 
threshold would not be eligible. The threshold would then be kept 
constant until the end of the Universal Credit roll out period, after 
which it would be kept under review. 

Some households currently in receipt of FSMs (particularly those 
working fewer hours but with higher incomes) will have earnings above 
the new threshold and could lose eligibility for FSMs. The consultation 
proposed the following protection arrangements to ensure that existing 
claimants do not lose entitlement to FSMs as a result of the new criteria:  

• From April 2018, all existing claimants should continue to 
receive free school meals whilst Universal Credit is rolled 
out. This will apply even if their earnings rise above the new 
threshold during that time. 

• In addition, any child gaining free school meals eligibility 
after the threshold has been introduced should be 
protected against losing free school meals during the 
Universal Credit rollout period. 

[…] 

• Once Universal Credit is fully rolled out, any existing 
claimants that no longer meet the eligibility criteria at that 
point (because they are earning above the threshold) would 
continue to receive protection until the end of their current 
phase of education (e.g. primary, secondary). 

The consultation concerns entitlement to FSMs in England only. It closes 
on 11 January 2018.35 

                                                                                               
34  PQ7124, 12 September 2017. 
35  Department for Education, Eligibility for free school meals and the early years pupil 

premium under Universal Credit, November 2017. Also see, HCWS260, 16 
November 2017. Page 24

https://consult.education.gov.uk/healthy-pupil-unit/fsm/
http://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/commons/2017-09-04/7124
https://consult.education.gov.uk/healthy-pupil-unit/fsm/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/healthy-pupil-unit/fsm/
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2017-11-16/HCWS260/


15 The Pupil Premium 

2.3 Pupil Premium for children adopted from 
overseas 

As set out in section one above, the Pupil Premium is paid in respect of 
children who were looked after by an English or Welsh local authority 
immediately before being adopted. Children who were not looked after 
by a local authority in England and Wales before being adopted (e.g. 
children adopted from overseas) are not currently eligible for the Pupil 
Premium.  

A parliamentary question in October 2017 asked the Government if it 
would allow children living in the UK who were adopted overseas to be 
eligible for the Pupil Premium. In response, the Minister, Robert 
Goodwill, said that the Government was “currently considering the 
educational entitlements of children adopted from care outside England 
and Wales.”36 

  

                                                                                               
36  PQ110484, 8 November 2017. Page 25

http://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/commons/2017-10-31/110484


  Number 6700, 12 December 2017 16 

3. Reports on the Pupil Premium 
This section provides brief information on selected reports concerning 
the Pupil Premium that have been published since 2015. 

3.1 NAO, Funding for disadvantaged pupils 
(June 2015) 

In June 2015, the National Audit Office published a report on funding 
for disadvantaged pupils. The report concluded that the Pupil Premium 
had the potential to “bring about a significant improvement in 
outcomes for disadvantaged pupils”, but that it would take time for its 
full impact to be known. The report additionally stated: 

While the attainment gap has narrowed since 2011, it remains 
wide and, at this stage, the significance of the improvements is 
unclear. More time and further evaluation will be needed to 
establish whether the Department has achieved its goals. 
However, the early signs are that many schools, supported by the 
Department’s investment in the EEF, are using the Pupil Premium 
to help disadvantaged pupils in useful ways.37 

While acknowledging that the DfE had created “a strong drive to 
improve support for disadvantaged pupils by targeting the Pupil 
Premium at schools on a rational basis”, the report stated that it had 
“more to do to optimise value for money”: 

Not all disadvantaged pupils currently attract funding. Some 
schools do not focus funding on disadvantaged pupils 
appropriately or use the most cost-effective interventions, and, in 
any event, the evidence base is still underdeveloped. Furthermore, 
the core school funding that the Pupil Premium supplements is 
not distributed on the basis of need. Most importantly, there is a 
risk that accountability and intervention mechanisms allow schools 
to waste money on ineffective activities for many years without 
effective challenge. As the impact of the Pupil Premium becomes 
clearer, the Department will need to review if it is investing the 
right amount in it, including whether spending more in this way 
could allow it to close the gap more quickly, generating wider 
savings for the taxpayer.38 

3.2 Public Accounts Committee, Funding for 
disadvantaged pupils (October 2015) 

In October 2015, the Public Accounts Committee published its report on 
funding for disadvantaged pupils, based on the earlier NAO report. The 
Committee noted evidence that the attainment gap between 
disadvantaged pupils and their peers had started to narrow since the 
introduction of the Pupil Premium. It added that head teachers were 
focusing more on disadvantaged pupils, and there were many examples 
of schools using the pupil premium on interventions that worked. The 
report argued, however, that the DfE needed to be “better at 
supporting schools to share and use best practice more consistently so 

                                                                                               
37  National Audit Office, Funding for disadvantaged pupils, June 2015, p11. 
38  As above. Page 26

http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Funding-for-disadvantaged-pupils.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201516/cmselect/cmpubacc/327/327.pdf
http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Funding-for-disadvantaged-pupils.pdf


17 The Pupil Premium 

that more schools use the Pupil Premium effectively.” Regarding the 
Pupil Premium, the report recommended:  

• In line with its original objective to obtain significant impact in 
primary schools by 2015 and in secondary schools by 2020, the 
DfE should define what “significant” means. 

• As the evidence base grows, the DfE should “develop the 
necessary mechanisms to make sure schools use effective 
interventions with disadvantaged pupils” and share best practice. 

• The DfE should provide an update on how it intends to mitigate 
the risk that Universal Credit will make it harder to identify 
disadvantaged pupils.39 

Government response 
The Government published its response to the Public Accounts 
Committee’s report in December 2015. The response did not accept the 
recommendation to define what “significant impact” meant in the 
context of the Pupil Premium. It stated that the DfE did not set national 
standards in education but instead intended to benchmark against the 
world’s highest-performing educational jurisdictions in terms of overall 
standards and the attainment gap between disadvantaged and non-
disadvantaged pupils.  

The Government agreed with the Committee’s recommendations 
regarding the dissemination and sharing of best practice, and 
highlighted the role of the EEF and the Pupil Premium Awards in this 
regard.40 

3.3 Education Policy Institute, Divergent 
Pathways (July 2016) 

The Education Policy Institute’s (EPI) first annual report, published in 
2016, noted that by the end of secondary school disadvantaged 
children were on average 19 months behind their peers (the “progress 
gap”). In July 2016, the EPI published a further report, Divergent 
Pathways: the disadvantage gap, accountability and the pupil premium, 
which looked at how the progress gap grows across the education 
phases, and the extent to which different types of schools were closing 
the gap.  

The report included a section written by Sir John Dunford, the National 
Pupil Premium Champion 2013-2015, setting out what good practice 
looks like in schools that are closing their progress gap and how that 
good practice can be spread nationally. This stated that to make the 
most of the Pupil Premium, schools must “properly assess the barriers to 
learning faced by their own disadvantaged pupils, identify clear 
objectives and criteria for success, and follow the evidence on what 

                                                                                               
39  Public Accounts Committee, Funding for disadvantaged pupils, HC 327, 9 October 

2015. 
40  HM Treasury, Treasury Minutes: Government responses on the First to the Third 

reports from the Committee of Public Accounts: Session 2015-16, and progress on 
Government Cash Management, Cm9170, December 2015, pp8-13. 

Page 27

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/486482/52958_CM_9170_Treasury_Minutes_Accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/486482/52958_CM_9170_Treasury_Minutes_Accessible.pdf
https://epi.org.uk/report/divergent-pathways-disadvantage-gap-accountability-pupil-premium/
https://epi.org.uk/report/divergent-pathways-disadvantage-gap-accountability-pupil-premium/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201516/cmselect/cmpubacc/327/327.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/486482/52958_CM_9170_Treasury_Minutes_Accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/486482/52958_CM_9170_Treasury_Minutes_Accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/486482/52958_CM_9170_Treasury_Minutes_Accessible.pdf


  Number 6700, 12 December 2017 18 

works provided by the Education Endowment Foundation and the 
National Foundation for Educational Research, among others.”41 

The report recommended that the Government should “continue to 
provide the Pupil Premium as a separate and clearly identifiable grant 
targeted at disadvantaged pupils.”42 

3.4 Social Mobility Commission, State of the 
Nation 2016 (November 2016) 

On 16 November 2016, the Social Mobility Commission published its 
fourth ‘state of the nation’ report. On the impact of the Pupil Premium, 
it stated: 

There is some evidence that the Pupil Premium has had a positive 
effect on the attainment gap, but is not definitive, because it 
cannot definitely say what would have happened to attainment 
had it not been introduced.43 

The report described the Pupil Premium as a “welcome focus on the 
needs of the very poorest children” but argued that this had “not been 
matched by a broader intention to break the link between social 
demography and educational destiny in our schools across income 
groups.”44 

The report recommended that the Early Years Pupil Premium should be 
doubled in value and stated that this could be funded via a 
redistribution from the primary Pupil Premium budget.45  

3.5 Social Mobility Commission, Social 
Mobility Policies 1997-2017 (June 2017) 

In June 2017, the Social Mobility Commission published an assessment 
of government policies over the last 20 years to increase social mobility. 
The report stated that despite Pupil Premium funding constituting “a 
small proportion of a school’s total budget, it has played a significant 
role in encouraging schools to concentrate on improving the outcomes 
of disadvantaged pupils.”46 

The report repeated the Commission’s earlier recommendation (see 
above) that the Early Years Pupil Premium should be doubled.47 

                                                                                               
41  Education Policy Institute, Divergent pathways: the disadvantage gap, accountability 

and the pupil premium, July 2016, p5. 
42  As above.  
43  Social Mobility Commission, State of the Nation 2016: Social Mobility in Great 

Britain, November 2016, p81. 
44  As above, p54. 
45  Social Mobility Commission, State of the Nation 2016: Social Mobility in Great 

Britain, November 2016, p81. 
46  Social Mobility Commission, Time for Change: An Assessment of Government 

Policies on Social Mobility 1997-2017, June 2017, p34. 
47  As above, p8. Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/569410/Social_Mobility_Commission_2016_REPORT_WEB__1__.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/622214/Time_for_Change_report_-_An_assessement_of_government_policies_on_social_mobility_1997-2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/622214/Time_for_Change_report_-_An_assessement_of_government_policies_on_social_mobility_1997-2017.pdf
https://epi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/disadvantage-report.pdf
https://epi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/disadvantage-report.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/569410/Social_Mobility_Commission_2016_REPORT_WEB__1__.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/569410/Social_Mobility_Commission_2016_REPORT_WEB__1__.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/569410/Social_Mobility_Commission_2016_REPORT_WEB__1__.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/569410/Social_Mobility_Commission_2016_REPORT_WEB__1__.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/622214/Time_for_Change_report_-_An_assessement_of_government_policies_on_social_mobility_1997-2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/622214/Time_for_Change_report_-_An_assessement_of_government_policies_on_social_mobility_1997-2017.pdf


19 The Pupil Premium 

3.6 Education Policy Institute, Closing the 
Gap (August 2017) 

In August 2017, the EPI published Closing the Gap? Trends in 
educational attainment and disadvantage. The report examined the 
extent to which schools are closing the gap, identified in its earlier 
reports (see above), between disadvantaged pupils (those eligible for the 
pupil premium) and their peers. 

The report found that: 

• The most disadvantaged pupils have fallen further behind their 
peers and are now on average over 2 full years of learning behind 
non-disadvantaged pupils by the end of secondary school.  

• There has been some progress in closing the gap for 
disadvantaged pupils on average since 2007 but the gap is closing 
slowly and inconsistently.  

• In 2016, disadvantaged pupils were on average 19.3 months 
behind their peers by the time they took their GCSEs. 

• Certain regions are lagging behind others with regards to closing 
the gap.48 

3.7 Social Mobility Commission, State of the 
Nation 2017 (November 2017) 

The Social Mobility Commission published its fifth annual state of the 
nation report in November 2017. The report highlighted that local 
policies can positively influence outcomes for disadvantaged residents, 
but stated that there is “a mind-blowing inconsistent of practice.” It 
recommended that local authorities should “develop an integrated 
strategy for improving disadvantaged children’s outcomes” and that 
“pupil premium funds should be invested in evidence-based practice.”49 

3.8 Sutton Trust, Teacher Polling 2017 
In 2017, the Sutton Trust surveyed around 1,400 teachers on funding 
issues. Regarding the Pupil Premium, the survey found: 

• 30% of head teachers said the funding the school received for 
poorer pupils was being used to plug gaps in their budget. 

• In terms of priorities for pupil premium funding, most teachers 
(27%) cited early intervention schemes, followed by one-to-one 
tuition (12%) and teaching assistants (12%). 

• 17% of teachers surveyed said they did not know what their 
school’s main priority for pupil premium funding was. 

• 72% of secondary senior leaders said that they had considered 
research evidence on the impact of different approaches and 
programmes. 60% said they had used the Education Endowment 
Foundation’s toolkit.50 

                                                                                               
48  Education Policy Institute, Closing the Gap? Trends in Educational Attainment and 

Disadvantage, August 2017. 
49  Social Mobility Commission, State of the Nation 2017: Social Mobility in Great 

Britain, November 2017, pvi. 
50  Teacher Polling 2017, Sutton Trust, April 2017. Page 29

https://epi.org.uk/report/closing-the-gap/
https://epi.org.uk/report/closing-the-gap/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/662744/State_of_the_Nation_2017_-_Social_Mobility_in_Great_Britain.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/662744/State_of_the_Nation_2017_-_Social_Mobility_in_Great_Britain.pdf
https://epi.org.uk/report/closing-the-gap/
https://epi.org.uk/report/closing-the-gap/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/662744/State_of_the_Nation_2017_-_Social_Mobility_in_Great_Britain.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/662744/State_of_the_Nation_2017_-_Social_Mobility_in_Great_Britain.pdf
https://www.suttontrust.com/research-paper/pupil-premium-polling-2017/


 

BRIEFING PAPER 
Number 6700, 12 December 
2017 

 About the Library 
The House of Commons Library research service provides MPs and their staff 
with the impartial briefing and evidence base they need to do their work in 
scrutinising Government, proposing legislation, and supporting constituents. 

As well as providing MPs with a confidential service we publish open briefing 
papers, which are available on the Parliament website. 

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in these publically 
available research briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should 
be aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated or otherwise 
amended to reflect subsequent changes. 

If you have any comments on our briefings please email papers@parliament.uk. 
Authors are available to discuss the content of this briefing only with Members 
and their staff. 

If you have any general questions about the work of the House of Commons 
you can email hcinfo@parliament.uk. 

Disclaimer 
This information is provided to Members of Parliament in support of their 
parliamentary duties. It is a general briefing only and should not be relied on as 
a substitute for specific advice. The House of Commons or the author(s) shall 
not be liable for any errors or omissions, or for any loss or damage of any kind 
arising from its use, and may remove, vary or amend any information at any 
time without prior notice. 

The House of Commons accepts no responsibility for any references or links to, 
or the content of, information maintained by third parties. This information is 
provided subject to the conditions of the Open Parliament Licence. 

 

 

Page 30

mailto:papers@parliament.uk?subject=Briefings%20comment
mailto:hcinfo@parliament.uk
http://www.parliament.uk/site-information/copyright/open-parliament-licence/

	Agenda
	1 Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director, CYPE, Kent County Council
	Matt Dunkley - TsQs

	2 Deborah Stanley, Headteacher, Maidstone Grammar School for Girls
	Deborah Stanley - TsQs

	3 Appendix
	1. The Pupil Premium
	1.1 Development of eligibility criteria and funding rates
	Increase in Pupil Premium Plus rate from 2018-19

	1.2 Pupil Premium funding allocations
	1.3 How the Premium is paid
	Non-mainstream settings
	Looked after children

	1.4 Accountability
	Schools
	Looked after children

	1.5 School Admissions and the Pupil Premium

	2. Eligibility criteria issues
	2.1 The requirement to register for free school meals
	2.2 Universal Credit
	November 2017 consultation

	2.3 Pupil Premium for children adopted from overseas

	3. Reports on the Pupil Premium
	3.1 NAO, Funding for disadvantaged pupils (June 2015)
	3.2 Public Accounts Committee, Funding for disadvantaged pupils (October 2015)
	Government response

	3.3 Education Policy Institute, Divergent Pathways (July 2016)
	3.4 Social Mobility Commission, State of the Nation 2016 (November 2016)
	3.5 Social Mobility Commission, Social Mobility Policies 1997-2017 (June 2017)
	3.6 Education Policy Institute, Closing the Gap (August 2017)
	3.7 Social Mobility Commission, State of the Nation 2017 (November 2017)
	3.8 Sutton Trust, Teacher Polling 2017



